IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

MELISHA HARDING

V.

ï

CAUSE NO, 2008-CA-01216-COA

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES

The undersigned counsel of record certifies that the following listed persons have an interest in the outcome of this case. These representations are made in order that the Justices of the Supreme Court and/or the Judges of the Court of Appeals may evaluate possible disqualification or recusal.

- 1. Melisha Harding, Appellant
- 2. Hon. Robert Chamberlain DeSoto County Circuit Judge
- 3. Hon. Jim Hood Mississippi Attorney General
- 4. Hon. John Champion DeSoto County District Attorney

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- Whether the Trial Court erred in denying the Appellant's Petition for Post-Conviction Relief, because Appellant never indicated that pleading guilty was in her best interests?
- 2. Whether the trial Court erred in holding that the Appellant was not denied her Sixth Amendment Right to effective assistance of counsel?
- 3. Whether the Trial Court erred by denying the Petition for Post-Conviction Relief based on cumulative error?

5

r

Ł

ŧ.

i.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

I. Nature of the Case

r :

r

r

t

ι

Ł

ι

.

i .

ŧ

ŧ

t.

ł

This cause has been appealed to the Mississippi Supreme Court and assigned to the Mississippi Court of Appeals from the Circuit Court of Desoto County, Mississippi. Melisha Harding, Appellant, pursuant to Miss. Code Ann. § 99-39-1 filed a Petition for Post-Conviction Relief in Cause No. CV-2008-89 in the Circuit Court of Desoto County, asserting that her constitutional rights had been violated. The Appellant had previously pled guilty under the auspices of *North Carolina v. Alford*, 400 U.S 25 (1970), to uttering a forgery and was sentenced to four (4) years as a habitual offender followed by six (6) years of post-release supervision, with five (5) years reporting and one (1) year non-reporting.

II. Course of Proceedings and Disposition of Lower Court

Your Appellant filed a Petition for Post-Conviction Relief alleging that her constitutional rights had been violated. Specifically, your Appellant alleged that the trial court erred in accepting her plea of guilty because she never acknowledged that it was in her best interest to plea guilty. She further alleged ineffective assistance of counsel and that her State and Federal due process rights were violated. Your Appellant argued that under *Alford* and its progeny the trial court was required to first find that a factual basis exists for the guilty plea, and that the defendant acknowledges that pleading guilty is in her best interest. *Bush v. State*, 922 So. 2d 802 (Miss. Ct, App. 2002). Furthermore, your Appellant alleged that her counsel was ineffective because he allowed the trial court to proceed without an acknowledgment that the plea was in the best interests of his client. In addition, your Appellant alleged that the trial courts acceptance of her plea and her counsel ineffectiveness was cumulative error which mandated post-conviction relief.

After the Appellant's petition was filed the State of Mississippi was then ordered,

pursuant to Miss. Code Ann. § 99-39-11(2)(3), as amended, to file a responsive pleading. In its response the State recognizes that the Appellant never stated that she was pleading because it was in her best interest. Instead the State argued that the Trial Court adequately examined the Appellant and ensured that she felt her decision was in her best interests. The State continued that there is no requirement to state these words expressly and that the questions asked by the judge were sufficient to ensure that the Appellant had voluntarily pleaded guilty. In addition, the State argued that ineffective assistance of counsel had not occurred and that any cumulative error that may have occurred was harmless.

The trial court denied you Appellant's Petition for Post-Conviction Relief and held that she had intelligently, knowingly, and voluntarily pled guilty to the charges against her. The court stated that the Appellant was not required to say the she knew her plea was in her best interests, but she simply had to conclude it was in her best interest. The court then stated that the Appellant did not meet the standard of ineffective assistance of counsel and subsequently denied the Petition for Post-Conviction Relief.

III Statement of the Facts

ï

ι.

1

In June 2006, your Appellant was indicted for willfully, unlawfully, and feloniously, uttering a forgery, as a habitual offender under §99-19-87 of the Miss Code Ann. That on September 17, 2007, in the Circuit Court of DeSoto County before the Honorable Robert P. Chamberlin, your petitioner entered an *Alford* Plea to Count 3 of the amended indictment, that being an uttered forgery pursuant to Miss. Code Ann § 99-19-81 as a habitual offender. That on November 7, 2007 your Appellant was sentenced to ten (10) years in the Custody of the Mississippi Department of Corrections, four years (4) of

incarceration, six (6) years post-release supervision, five (5) of that reporting, one (1) nonreporting, The sentence will be served as a habitual offender pursuant to Mississippi Code 9-19-81. Your Appellant was also fined \$1,000.00.

ŗ

ţ

ŧ

í

4

Your Appellant then filed a Petition for Post-Conviction Relief, which was denied by the Circuit Court of Desoto County, Mississippi. From this denial she appeals.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The trial court denied and dismissed your Appellant's Petition for Post-Conviction Relief filed in the Circuit Court of Desoto County. The Petitioner has appealed this judgment and states that the trial court was clearly erroneous in dismissing her petition.

1

1

L

The United States Supreme Court held that a defendant has the right to enter a plea of guilty to the charges against her, even if she does not admit guilt. *State of North Carolina v. Alford*,400 U.S. 25 (1970). Mississippi has expounded on this holding and allows for *Alford* pleas to be accepted as long as the trial court finds a factual basis for the plea, and that defendant acknowledges that pleading guilty is in her best interest. *Bush v. State*, 922 So. 2d 802 (Miss. Ct. App. 2002). Your Appellant concedes that a factual basis existed; however, the trial court should not have accepted her guilty plea, and wrongfully denied her Petition for Post-Conviction Relief, because the defendant never concluded or acknowledged that pleading guilty was in her best interests. Therefore, her guilty plea should not have been accepted, and furthermore her Petition for Post-Conviction Relief should have been granted.

The United States Supreme Court has held that a claim for ineffective assistance will succeed when it is shown that "but for" the counsel's conduct the outcome of the proceeding would have been different. *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668 (1984). The record is void of any action where your Appellant's counsel informed her that the court can only accept her plea if she acknowledges that it is in her best interest. Furthermore, the counsel never stated to the court that your Appellant was pleading guuilty because she believed it was in her best interest. Your appellant submits that "but for" this error by her counsel she would have known what her constitutional rights were and could have determined whether this plea was in her best interest.

The trial court was wrong in denying your Appellant's Petition for Post-Conviction Relief because, the individual errors that occurred during the plea hearing constituted cumulative error. Therefore the cumulative effect of these individual errors denied your Appellant of her fundamental and constitutional rights and she is entitled to relief.

,

, ·

, ·

:

t

ŝ

٠

i

Your Appellant, Melisha Harding, respectfully requests this Honorable Court to reverse the dismissal of the trial court and grant her Post-Conviction Relief, in the form of vacating her sentence and remanding Desoto Co. Cause No. CR-2006-537-C(D) to the trial court for a new trial.

ARGUMENT

I. <u>Whether the Trial Court erred in denying the Appellant's Petition for Post-</u> <u>Conviction Relief, because Appellant never indicated that pleading guilty was in her best</u> <u>interests?</u>

A trial court's denial of post-conviction relief will not be reversed absent a finding that the trial court's decision was clearly erroneous. *Smith v. State*, 806 So.2d 1148 (Miss.Ct.App.2002). However, when issues of law are raised, the proper standard of review is de novo. *Brown v. State*, 731 So.2d 595 (Miss.1999).

The Mississippi Legislature has given prisoners the opportunity to seek post-conviction relief if his plea of guilty was made involuntarily. Miss. Code Ann. § 99-39-5(f).

Your Appellant did not enter a "standard" guilty plea to the indictment against her in this case. Instead, she pled *Alford* and steadfastly maintained her innocence. The United States Supreme Court held in *North Carolina v. Alford*, that no constitutional error exists "when the defendant knowingly and intelligently concludes that his best interests require entry of the guilty plea and the trial judge makes a determination on the record that there is strong evidence of actual guilt." 400 U.S. 25 (1970).

.

.

ĸ

t

i

Mississippi's Court of Appeals has interpreted *Alford* in a number of cases. Specifically, *Bush v. State*, 922 So. 2d. 802 (Miss Ct. App. 2002), in this case, that petitioner sought relief after his *Alford* plea to sexual battery of a ten-year old girl. The petitioner alleged (a) that his plea was essentially a *nolo contendere* plea and therefore void, (b) the counsel was ineffective, and (c) the plea was involuntary. *Id*. The court found no merit in the first two allegations and applied a two-prong test to determine that Bush's plea was voluntary and constitutional. *Id*.

The *Bush* test mandated that a factual basis must be present, and that the defendant must acknowledge that it is in his best interest to plead guilty under the circumstances. *Id.*

The Court further interpreted *Alford* by applying the *Bush* test in *Cougle v. State*, 966 So 2d 827 (Ms. Ct. App. 2007). In *Cougle*, the petitioner, likewise made, a claim that his plea was involuntary and unintelligently made. The court held that, even though he never specifically alleged that the plea was made in his best interest, it was intelligently made, because there was evidence from the record that the petitioner was thoroughly examined by the court and also because he spent considerable time weighing the decision to plead guilty. *Id.* at 831.

Your Appellant submits that she never acknowledged that the plea was in her best interest. Furthermore the court never made any conclusion, at the plea hearing, that your Appellant was pleading because she believed that pleading was in her best interest. The following are the relevant portions of the plea colloquy, and evidence that Ms. Harding at no time manifested a belief that pleading guilty was in her best interests:

The Court: Ms. Harding, it indicates this is an *Alford* plea of guilty. Do you understand what that means?

By Defendant: Yes, sir.

,

r :

. .

r

ŧ

ı.

:

i

L

;

1

ı

t.

ι.

i

The Court: Let me go over it with you to make sure that you do understand. Ms. Harding, an *Alford* plea is a plea in which it means you are pleading guilty but not admitting your guilt. Do you understand that?

By Defendant: Yes, sir.

The Court: It is similar to what you might call a no contest plea. Do you understand that?

By Defendant: Yes, sir.

The Court: But do you understand that whether we refer to it as an *Alford* or refer to it as a no contest plea, it is a guilty plea nonetheless? Do you understand that?

By Defendant: Yes, sir

1

. .

e 15

£

r

,

,

ι.

ŝ

i.

ι.

The Court: Is that what you want to do?

By Defendant: Yes, sir.

(Plea Hr'g Tr. 12-13.)

The court continued with its colloquy as follows:

The Court: Do you understand that by pleading guilty pursuant to *North Carolina versus Alford*, you are asking me to accept everything the State says they can prove true as being true?

By Defendant: Yes

The Court: Is that what you want to do?

By Defendant: Yes:

(Plea Hr'g Tr. 17.)

The Court: Ms. Harding are you pleading guilty because pursuant to *North Carolina versus Alford* you're asking me to accept what the State says they can prove as true as being true?

By Defendant: Yes.

(Plea Hr'g Tr. 28)

The Court: Do you understand that by pleading guilty pursuant to North Carolina versus Alford you are asking me to accept those facts as being true and accept those charges as being true? Do you understand that?

By Defendant: Yes, Sir.

(Plea Hr'g tr. 30)

r

. .

, ·

.

(

•

۰.

È.

Your Appellant submits that the above colloquy meets the first prong of the *Bush* test. The court allowed the State to establish a factual basis and then the Court found that a factual basis existed for the plea. Plea Hr'g Tr. 31.

However, the second prong of Bush is never met. The appellant submits the following as the closest the court ever comes in finding that the Appellant was pleading because it was in her best interest is the following:

The Court: Ms. Harding, I may have not asked you, but let me make sure that I have. Is it you decision and your decision alone to plead guilty?

By Defendant: Yes, Sir.

The Court: Are you asking me to accept that plea?

By Defendant? Yes, sir.

(Plea Hr'g Tr. 31)

Your Appellant submits that this does not meet the standard of *Alford* or *Bush*, and that her plea should not have been accepted and that her Petition for Post-Conviction Relief should have been granted.

In addition, unlike in *Cougle*, there is no evidence, in your Appellant's case, to suggest that this plea was well-thought out. The lower court based its denial, *inter alia*, on the fact that she was a habitual offender and therefore she *had to* conclude that the plea was in her best interest. However, Ms. Harding was not originally indicted under the Habitual Offender Statute, and in fact the State of Mississippi did not move to amend the indictment until the day of the plea. Plea Hr'g Tr. 15. Your Appellant submits that, unlike the Defendant in *Cougle*, she did not have a "number of days" to consider pleading to the "new" charges as a habitual offender.

Instead, she made a decision that day and never indicated or concluded that pleading guilty was in her best interests.

Furthermore, the trial court erred in stating that the your appellant never produced any affidavits or evidence that she did not believe the plea was in her best interest. Your Appellant concedes that she never produced any affidavit specifically stating that the plea was in not in her best interests; however, she did, pursuant to Miss. Code Ann § 99-39-9(3), submit and attach a verification form. In this form, your appellant swears and affirms that the facts in her petition are true and accurate. Therefore, she submits that at no time during the plea hearing did she conclude or did the trial court find that she was pleading because it was in her best interest.

Your Appellant submits that she never acknowledged or concluded that pleading guilty was in her best interests; consequently, her guilty plea was unconstitutionally accepted by the Trial Court. Therefore, Ms. Harding's guilty plea should not have been accepted, and the Trial Court should have granted her Petition for Post-Conviction Relief.

II. Whether the trial Court erred in holding that the Appellant was not denied her

Sixth Amendment Right to effective assistance of counsel?

1.1

,

ĩ

ι

ł

ι.

i.

ι.

The legal test as to effective assistance of counsel was established in *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668 (1984), where the United States Supreme Court held that on a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel, the benchmark is "whether Counsel's conduct so undermined the proper functioning of the adversarial process that the trial cannot be relied on as having produced a just result." *Letherwood v. State*, 473 So.2d 964, 968 (Miss. 1985). The *Strickland* test applies to jury trials as well as guilty pleas. *Hannah v. State*, 943 So.2d 20 (Miss. 2006. The courts have been consistent in using an outcome determinative approach in the *Strickland* analysis. The Fifth Circuit has held that even if counsel provides effective assistance at trial in some areas, the defendant is entitled to relief if counsel renders ineffective assistance in his/her performance in other portions of the trial. *Washington v. Watkins*, 655 F.2d 1346, 1355, rehearing denied with opinion, 622 F.2d 116 (5th Cir. 1981), cert. denied, 456 U.S. 949 (1982). Even a single error by counsel may be sufficient to warrant relief. *Nelson v. Estelle*, 642 F.2d 903, 906 (5th Cir. 1981) (Counsel may be held to be ineffective due to a single error where the basis of the error is of constitutional dimension); *Nero v. Blackburn*, 597 F2d 991, 994 (5th Cir. 1979) ("sometimes a single error is so substantial that it alone causes the attorney's assistance to fall below the Sixth Amendment standard").

t

1

.

t

Ł

ł

Once ineffectiveness of counsel is shown, a violation of the Sixth Amendment is only present if the ineffectiveness has prejudiced the defendant. *Strickland*, 466 U.S. 668. Prejudice is established when there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's errors, the result of the trial would have been different. *Id.* The inquiry in determining whether counsel's performance was constitutionally deficient is whether counsel's assistance was reasonable considering all the circumstances. *Id.* At 687-688.

Honorable William F. Travis, Attorney at Law was your Appellant's attorney at the trial level and during the plea and sentencing hearing. Mr. Travis made critical errors that seriously prejudiced the outcome of plea hearing. There is no record that at anytime Mr. Travis informed Ms. Harding that she was required to conclude or acknowledge that pleading guilty was in her best interest. Your Appellant submits that Mr. Travis was effective in every other aspect of his representation, but he was ineffective in this one area and because of that the Court unconstitutionally accepted your Appellant's plea and she was prejudiced by this ineffectiveness

of counsel

ç :

1 · · 1

r

.

v

,

·

L

٤.

i .

Ĺ

£

As mention above, even a single error by counsel may be sufficient to warrant relief. *Nelson v. Estelle*, 642 F.2d 903, 906 (5th Cir. 1981). Therefore, because Mr. Travis was ineffective in this area of his representation, your Appellant is entitled to Post-Conviction relief

III. <u>Whether the Trial Court erred by denying the Petition for Post-Conviction Relief</u> based on cumulative error?

In the event the individual errors committed throughout your petitioner's plea hearing are deemed harmless, your Appellant's final claim is that the cumulative effect of these individual errors deprived her of her fundamental rights, requiring reversal of her conviction.

Several of the errors discussed above cannot be harmless. Although your Appellant is entitles to relief on any of the errors standing alone, it is clear that "[w]hen all the errors are taken together, the combined prejudicial effect requires reversal." *Williams v. State*, 445 So.2d 798, 810 (Miss. 1984). In light of the cumulative effect of the errors, your Appellant is entitled to post-conviction relief.

CONCLUSION

1

:

. .

r :

ļ

,

r

.

ł.

i

Melisa Harding, Appellant in this cause, would respectfully ask this court to reverse and remand her case to the Circuit Court of Desoto County, Mississippi for a new trial based on the following errors, which have been addressed in the body of her brief:

- 4. Whether the Trial Court erred in denying the Appellant's Petition for Post-Conviction Relief, because Appellant never indicated that pleading guilty was in her best interests?
- 5. Whether the trial Court erred in holding that the Appellant was not denied her Sixth Amendment Right to effective assistance of counsel?
- 6. Whether the Trial Court erred by denying the Petition for Post-Conviction Relief based on cumulative error?

Your Appellant respectfully requests that this Court, upon consideration of the brief presented herein, and consideration of the facts and law relevant to the issues presented, reverse and remand this case to the Circuit Court of Desoto County, Mississippi.