IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

MELISHA HARDING

APPELLANT

VS.

NO. 2008-CA-1216

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE

APPELLEE DOES NOT REQUEST ORAL ARGUMENT

JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL

BY: STEPHANIE B. WOOD

SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL

MISSISSIPPI BAR NO.

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL POST OFFICE BOX 220 JACKSON, MS 39205-0220 TELEPHONE: (601) 359-3680

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- I. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN ACCEPTING THE APPELLANT'S GUILTY PLEA AS THE TRIAL COURT DETERMINED, AFTER A THOROUGH EVALUATION OF THE APPELLANT, THAT THERE WAS A FACTUAL BASIS FOR THE PLEA AND THAT THE APPELLANT WAS ENTERING THE PLEA BECAUSE SHE BELIEVED IT WAS IN HER BEST INTEREST TO DO SO.
- II. THE APPELLANT WAS NOT DENIED EFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL.
- III. THERE IS NO CUMULATIVE ERROR AS THERE WERE NO INDIVIDUAL ERRORS.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The Appellant, Melisha Harding, was indicted for burglary, grand larceny, and uttering a forgery. (Record p. 7 - 8). On November 7, 2008, Harding, subject to a plea agreement, entered an *Alford* plea to the charge of uttering a forgery as a habitual offender under Mississippi Code Annotated §99-19-81 with the two remaining charges being remanded. (See generally Transcript of Plea Hearing and Sentencing Hearing). After extensive examination, the trial court accepted the

plea. (Transcript p. 32). She was later sentenced as a habitual offender to ten years in the custody of the Mississippi Department of Corrections with six years suspended and four years to serve and with six years post release supervision, five of that reporting and one non-reporting. (Record p. 9 - 11).

On March 20, 2008, Harding filed a petition for post-conviction relief alleging that "the conviction was imposed in violation of the laws of Mississippi," "her plea was made involuntarily," and "her counsel was ineffective in his representation." (Record p. 5). She also filed a memorandum in support of her petition in which she argued that: 1) "the trial court should not have accepted your petitioner's *Alford* plea and, therefore, your petitioner entered her plea involuntarily;" 2) "the petitioner was denied her 6th Amendment right to the effective assistance of counsel within the meaning of *Strickland v. Washington* and corresponding portions of the Mississippi Constitution;" and 3) "the trial court commit[ted] reversible error based on the cumulative effect of the aforementioned errors." (Record p. 14 - 23). On May 9, 2008, the trial court ordered the State of Mississippi to respond to Harding's petition. (Record p. 29). The State filed a response on May 30, 2008. (Record p. 30 - 38). On June 13, 2008, the trial court entered an order denying Harding's petition. (Record p. 39 - 42).

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The trial court did not err in accepting Harding's *Alford* plea as the record clearly establishes not only that Harding understood the implication of her *Alford* plea, but also that she believed it was in her best interest to plead guilty and it was her desire to do so. Furthermore, there is no Mississippi case law requiring that Harding state specifically on the record that she believed it was in her best interest to plead guilty. The case law only requires that Harding knowingly and intelligently conclude that its in her best interest to plead guilty.

Harding was not denied effective assistance of counsel. The record illustrates that her attorney explained an *Alford* plea and its implications to her and that she was pleased with his assistance. Further, and most importantly, Harding wholly failed to establish the second prong of the *Strickland* analysis as she did not specifically state what prejudice her attorney's alleged deficiency caused.

Lastly, as there were no individual errors, there can be no cumulative error. Thus, Harding's conviction and sentence should be affirmed.

ARGUMENT

The trial court's denial of a motion for post-conviction relief should not be reversed "absent a finding that the trial court's decision was clearly erroneous." *Crowell v. State*, 801 So.2d 747, 749 (Miss. Ct. App. 2000) (citing *Kirksey v. State*, 728 So.2d 565, 567 (Miss. 1999)).

I. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN ACCEPTING THE APPELLANT'S GUILTY PLEA AS THE TRIAL COURT DETERMINED, AFTER A THOROUGH EVALUATION OF THE APPELLANT, THAT THERE WAS A FACTUAL BASIS FOR THE PLEA AND THAT THE APPELLANT WAS ENTERING THE PLEA BECAUSE SHE BELIEVED IT WAS IN HER BEST INTEREST TO DO SO.

On appeal, Harding first raises the issue of "whether the trial court erred in denying the Appellant's Petition for Post-Conviction Relief, because Appellant never indicated that pleading guilty was in her best interest?" (Appellant's Brief p. 10). Harding entered what is commonly referred to as an *Alford* plea. "An *Alford* plea allows a defendant to avoid the risk of conviction at trial by pleading guilty without admitting to actual guilt of the crime charged." *In re Shelton*, 987 So.2d 938, 939 (Miss. 2008). This Court noted in *Bush v. State*, that the United State Supreme Court previously "found no constitutional error in accepting a guilty plea despite a protestation of innocence, when the defendant knowingly and intelligently concluded that his best interests required entry of a guilty plea and the trial judge made a determination on the record that there was strong

evidence of actual guilt." 922 So.2d 802, 805 (Miss. Ct. App. 2005) (citing *North Carolina v. Alford*, 400 U.S. 25, 91 S.Ct. 160, 27 L.Ed.2d 162 (1970)).

At her guilty plea hearing, there was more than adequate evidence not only that Harding understood the implication of her *Alford* plea, but also that she believed it was in her best interest to plead guilty and it was her desire to do so:

- Q: By submitting this petition, you're asking to enter a plea of guilty to Count 3 of the amended indictment, that being uttering a forgery charge pursuant to Section 99-19-81 of the habitual offender statute: is that correct?
- A: Yes, sir.
- Q: Ms. Harding, it indicates this is an *Alford* plea of guilty. Do you understand what that means?
- A: Yes, sir.
- Q: Let me go over it with you to make sure that you do understand. Ms. Harding, an *Alford* plea is a plea in which it means you are pleading guilty but not admitting your guilt. Do you understand that?
- A: Yes, sir.
- Q: It is similar to what you might call a no contest plea. Do you understand that?
- A: Yes, sir.
- Q: But do you understand that whether we refer to it as an *Alford* plea or refer to it as a no contest plea, it is a guilty plea nonetheless? Do you understand that?
- A: Yes, sir.
- Q: Is that what you want to do?
- A: Yes sir.

(Transcript p. 13 - 14).

- Q: Do you understand that by pleading guilty pursuant to *North Carolina v*. *Alford*, you are asking me to accept everything the State says they can prove as true as being true?
- A: Yes.
- Q: Is that what you want to do?
- A: Yes.

(Transcript p. 17 - 18).

Q: Ms. Harding, are you pleading guilty because pursuant to *North Carolina v. Alford*, you're asking me to accept what the State says they can prove as being true?

A: Yes.

(Transcript p. 29).

- Q: Ms Harding, do you understand that your indictment in Count 3 alleges that you have committed the crime of uttering a forgery, all in violation of Mississippi law, all in DeSoto County, Mississippi, while a habitual offender under Mississippi Code Annotated, Section 99-19-81, that being your amended indictment I'm referring to? Do you understand that is what you charged with?
- A: Yes, sir.
- Q: Do you understand that by pleading guilty pursuant to *North Carolina v*. *Alford*, you are asking me to accept those facts as being true and accept those charges as being true? Do you understand that?
- A: Yes, sir.
- Q: Is that what you want to do?
- A: Yes, sir.

(Transcript p. 31).

- Q: Ms. Harding, I may not have asked you, but let me make sure that I have. Is it your decision and your decision alone to plead guilty?
- A: Yes, sir,
- Q: Are you asking me to accept that plea?
- A: Yes, sir.

(Transcript p. 32). This Court has recognized "that there is a strong presumption of validity when a statement is given while under oath." *Cole v. State*, 918 So.2d 890, 893 (Miss. Ct. App. 2006) (citing *King v. State*, 679 So.2d 208, 211 (Miss.1996)). Nonetheless, Harding argues that her plea was not valid as she "never acknowledged that the plea was in her best interest." (Appellant's Brief p. 11). However, as noted by the trial judge in his order denying post-conviction relief, "the court does not have to require the defendant to state that he knows that the plea is in his best interest but that the defendant knowingly and intelligently <u>concludes</u> it is in their best interest" and that it "found no cases that say this must be stated verbally on the record with the use of 'magic words." (Record p. 41). Thus, the record clearly indicates that Harding believed it was in her best interest to plead guilty to the charge. *See McNickles v. State*, 979 So.2d 693, 696 (Miss. Ct. App. 2007) and *Cole*,

918 So.2d at 892-93. As such, Harding's first issue is without merit.

II. THE APPELLANT WAS NOT DENIED EFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL.

Harding also argues on appeal that his she was denied effective assistance of counsel.

(Appellant's Brief p. 14). The standard of review for such claims is as follows:

Claims of ineffective assistance of counsel are judged by the standard in *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984). The two-part test set out in *Strickland* is whether counsel's performance was deficient and, if so, whether the deficiency prejudiced the defendant to the point that "our confidence in the correctness of the outcome is undermined." *Neal v. State*, 525 So.2d 1279, 1281 (Miss.1987). . . . A strong but rebuttable presumption exists that "counsel's conduct falls within a broad range of reasonable professional assistance." *McQuarter v. State*, 574 So.2d 685, 687 (Miss.1990). To overcome this presumption, the defendant must show that "but for" the deficiency a different result would have occurred. *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 694, 104 S.Ct. 2052.

Richardson v. State, 769 So.2d 230, 234 (Miss. Ct. App. 2000) (emphasis added). In this regard, Harding argues that "there is no record that at anytime [her counsel] informed [her] that she was required to conclude or acknowledge that pleading guilty was in her best interest." (Appellant's Brief p. 15). However, the record indicates otherwise:

Q: ... Have you had an opportunity to thoroughly discuss your case, including any potential defenses with your lawyer?

A: Yes.

(Transcript p. 5).

Q: Have you read this petition?

A: Yes, sir.

Q: Have you gone over this petition with [your attorney], had him explain it to you and answer any questions you might have?

A: Yes, sir.

Q: Is everything in the petition true and correct?

A: Yes, sir.

Q: Are you telling me that you have read the petition and you understand the petition?

A: Yes, sir.

(Transcript p. 12 - 13).

Q: ... are you each satisfied with the services rendered to you by your lawyers?

A: Yes

Q: Have they been available to you?

A: Yes.

Q: Any complaints at all about their representation?

A: No.

(Transcript p. 29 - 30). From the above cited testimony as well as the testimony cited with regard to Issue 1 above, it is clear that Harding understood her *Alford* plea and that her attorney satisfactorily explained the plea as well as its implications to her. Thus, the first prong of *Strickland* has not been satisfied.

With regard to the second prong of the *Strickland* analysis, Harding simply argues that her counsel "made critical errors that seriously prejudiced the outcome of the plea hearing." (Appellant's Brief p. 15). It is well-established law that a defendant must, in order to establish a prima facie case of ineffective assistance of counsel, allege "with specificity and detail matters to show both that his counsel's performance was deficient, but also that the deficient performance prejudiced him." *Kinney v. State*, 737 So.2d 1038, 1041 (Miss. Ct. App. 1999) (citing *Cole v. State*, 666 So.2d 767, 777 (Miss. 1995)) (*emphasis added*). Harding wholly failed to establish the second prong of the *Strickland* analysis. As such, Harding's second issue is without merit.

III. THERE IS NO CUMULATIVE ERROR AS THERE WERE NO INDIVIDUAL ERRORS.

Lastly, Harding argues that "the cumulative effect of these individual errors deprived her of her fundamental rights." (Appellant's Brief p. 16). This Court recently held that "[t]he cumulative error doctrine stems from the doctrine of harmless error which holds that individual errors, which are not reversible in themselves, may combine with other errors to make up reversible error, where the cumulative effect of all errors deprives the defendant of a fundamentally fair trial." *Thompson* v. State, 990 So.2d 265, 270 (Miss. Ct. App. 2008)(quoting Harris v. State, 970 So.2d 151, 157

(Miss. 2007)). However, as the *Thompson* Court held, "reversal based upon cumulative error requires a finding or findings of error" and because the Court found "no error regarding [the defendant's] conviction, harmless or otherwise, this issue is without merit." *Id.* Thus, in Harding's case, as there were no errors, harmless or otherwise, there is no cumulative error.

CONCLUSION

The State of Mississippi respectfully requests that this Honorable Court affirm the trial court's denial of the Appellant's motion for post-conviction relief as the trial court correctly determined that the Appellant's guilty plea was properly accepted and that the Appellant was not denied effective assistance of counsel.